#### BYLAWS OF THE NATIONAL SPACE SOCIETY

(Last revised November 2024)

# ARTICLE I — NAME, LOCATION AND GENERAL ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

- **Section 1.** The name of the organization shall be NATIONAL SPACE SOCIETY, a non-profit corporation incorporated in the District of Columbia. Any reference in these Bylaws to the "Society" shall be deemed to mean the NATIONAL SPACE SOCIETY.
- **Section 2.** The office of the Society shall be located in the District of Columbia and/or such other localities as may be determined by the Board of Directors.
- Section 3. The Society shall have the following Boards and Committees which are designated in subsequent Articles of these Bylaws: Board of Directors, Board of Governors, Board of Advisors, Executive Committee, Nominations Committee, Elections Committee, and Policy Committee. Additional subsidiary bodies of the Society may be established as provided in these Bylaws.

#### ARTICLE II — OBJECTIVES

- **Section 1.** The objectives of this Society shall be, but are not limited to:
- (a) The creation of a space-faring civilization which will establish communities beyond Earth; promotion of the earliest possible establishment of self-sustaining human settlements in space; promotion of large-scale industrialization and private enterprise in space;
- (b) The promotion of interest in space exploration, research, development, and habitation, through the media of conferences, the press, library and museum exhibits, and other literary and educational means;
- (c) The support, by funding or otherwise, of scholarships, lectureships, libraries, museums and other means of encouraging the study of space and related technologies;
- (d) The stimulation of the advancement and development of applications of space and related technologies;
- (e) The bringing together of persons from government, industry, educational institutions, the press, and other walks of life for the exchange of information;
- (f) Informing the public at large on space and related technology matters; and
- (g) The provision of suitable recognition and honor to individuals and organizations which have contributed to the advancement of space research, development, habitation and exploration, as well as scientific and technological developments related thereto.

**Section 2.** In furtherance of the foregoing objectives, the Society may conduct or engage in any and all lawful activities which may be conducted by nonprofit corporations pursuant to the laws of the District of Columbia.

#### ARTICLE III — MEMBERSHIP

- **Section 1. Qualification:** Any person, other than one whose membership has been revoked in accordance with these Bylaws, shall become a member upon payment of the then current membership dues for the appropriate membership class.
- *Section 2. Membership Classes:* The Society shall have the following membership classes:
- (a) Voting Membership: A member shall be deemed a voting member unless the person joined a different specified membership class. In all matters submitted for a membership vote, only voting members have the right to vote. Members may not vote by proxy.
- (b) Non-Voting Membership: Non-voting memberships, such as associate or affiliate memberships, shall have rights and benefits (other than voting) as may be established by a majority vote of the Executive Committee.
- (c) Institutional Membership: Institutional membership shall be available to institutions which pay institutional membership dues. Examples of such institutions are corporations, partnerships, unions, and other groups, associations, and agencies. Institutional memberships shall be non-voting memberships.
- Section 3. Life Membership: Applications for life memberships will not be accepted. Such memberships now in existence will be honored. Life membership may be conferred, by unanimous act of the Executive Committee or by a majority vote of the Board of Directors, upon persons who make conspicuous and outstanding contributions to the objectives of the Society. A life membership is a voting membership.
- Section 4. Complimentary Membership: A complimentary membership is one for which no money is paid to the Society. Complimentary non-voting memberships may be issued by the Executive Committee. Complimentary voting memberships may be issued by a majority vote of the Executive Committee but shall be limited to 100 in any one-year period beginning July 1. The issuance of a larger number of complimentary voting memberships in the same calendar year requires the approval of a majority vote of the Board of Directors.
- Section 5. Categories of Membership: The Executive Committee by majority vote may establish categories of membership within the classes described above. These

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 2 of 12

categories may differ by name, amount of dues paid, duration of membership, method and timing of payments, length of grace period, or any other rights and benefits not related to voting.

- Section 6. Resignation: Resignation of members shall be made in writing to the Secretary and the resignation shall become effective when received or as otherwise stated therein; however, such resignation shall not entitle the resigning member to a refund or cancellation of dues paid or owed, nor forgiveness or cancellation of any other indebtedness to the Society. Further, such resigning member shall not have the right to vote in any matter submitted to the membership for a vote during the period of time between the tendering of such resignation and the effective date thereof.
- Section 7. Revocation of Membership: The Board of Directors, by majority vote only, shall have the authority to revoke the membership of any individual or institution. In the event such action is taken by the Board of Directors, then any votes of such members which have been cast in a vote of the membership conducted by mail, such as in a Board of Directors election, shall become immediately invalid, if the final count for the vote in question has not been completed. The Chief Executive Officer may make recommendation to the Board of Directors that such action be taken. Prior to recommending revocation of membership, the Chief Executive Officer shall send by first class mail written notice to the affected member(s). The notice shall include:
- (a) A brief outline of the information on which the Chief Executive Officer is acting;
- (b) The fact that revocation of membership will be recommended to the Board of Directors not earlier than thirty (30) days and not later than sixty (60) days after postmark of the written notice, unless the affected member shows cause why this action should not be taken;
- (c) A request that the affected member provide the Chief Executive Officer with any information which should be considered by the Directors prior to their acting on the recommendation.
- Section 8. Establishment of Dues: Membership dues for all classes or categories of membership shall be established by majority vote of the Executive Committee, with the exception that any reduction of voting membership dues below the then current lowest priced annualized non-life voting membership dues requires a majority vote of the Board of Directors.
- **Section 9. Delinquency and Cancellation:** Any member whose dues are in arrears for a grace period of two months shall cease to have membership in the Society. By a majority vote, the Executive Committee may set a shorter grace period for a particular class or category of membership.

# ARTICLE IV — CHAPTERS

- Section 1. Definition: A chapter is an incorporated or unincorporated association of persons who have joined together to further the interests of the National Space Society and which has been officially recognized as a Chapter by the Society in accordance with "The National Space Society Chapter Rules." Membership in the Society shall not be dependent upon membership in any local chapter, nor shall the payment of any local chapter dues be required as a condition to membership in the Society.
- Section 2. Chapter Rules: The bylaws, acts, and decisions of all chapters must be in accordance with the National Space Society's Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws, with any act of the Board of Directors, and with "The National Space Society Chapter Rules" which document shall be maintained by the Board of Directors. "The National Space Society Chapter Rules" may be amended only by majority vote of the Board of Directors.
- Section 3. Director of Chapter Support: A Director of Chapter Support shall be responsible for the operational aspects of Chapter support in accordance with "The National Space Society Chapter Rules." If a particular Vice President is designated to manage Chapter affairs, this Vice President may choose either (1) to serve as Director of Chapter Support, or (2) to designate a person, with the approval by majority vote of the Executive Committee, to serve as Director of Chapter Support, in which case the Director of Chapter Support shall report to said Vice President, who may review or overturn any decision of the Director of Chapter Support. At any time that no Vice President has been designated to manage Chapter affairs, the Executive Committee shall by majority vote appoint and may replace a Director of Chapter Support, in which case the Director of Chapter Support shall be an exofficio member of the Executive Committee and shall report to the Senior Vice President, who may review or overturn any decision of the Director of Chapter Support.

#### ARTICLE V — BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Authority and Responsibility: The affairs of the Society shall be governed by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall be responsible for the overall supervision, control, direction and governance of the property, activities, and affairs of the Society, its committees and publications; shall determine its policies or changes therein; shall actively prosecute its objectives and supervise the disbursement of its funds; shall adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of the Society's lawful activities and business as shall be deemed advisable; and may take any other legal action to promote the Society's welfare. Members of the Board or their agents may inspect the books of the Society for any appropriate purpose at any reasonable time. The Board of Directors shall have the authority to supersede and to exercise the powers of the Executive Committee and the

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 3 of 12

Chief Executive Officer, as well as all other Officers and Committees (but not to remove any Officer's right to vote and be counted as part of a quorum), except that it shall require a majority vote, to supersede and to exercise the powers of the Executive Vice President in Policy Committee matters, the Secretary, and the Treasurer, (but not to remove such Officer's right to vote and be counted as part of a quorum) as well as the Nominations Committee, the Elections Committee, and the Policy Committee.

Section 2. Composition: The voting members of the Board of Directors, defined as those eligible to vote on matters decided by the Board of Directors, shall consist of the At-Large Board Members elected by the general membership and the Regional Board Members elected by the members of the regions as provided for in these Bylaws. Members of the Board of Directors must be members of the Society throughout their term of office. To be eligible for election to the Board of Directors as At-Large Members or Regional Members, individuals must be members of the Society at the time of their nomination and at the time the election is completed. To be eligible for election to a Regional Board position, an individual must be a resident of that region on February 1 of the year of the election. In order to be a resident of a particular region, an individual must qualify as a legal resident of that region and must normally live within that region more than in any other region. The geographic description of the regions shall be determined by majority vote of the Board of Directors.

#### Section 3. Election and Term:

- (a) One Regional Director shall be elected from each of the eight (8) regions by members residing in those regions, respectively, for terms of two years which expire in every even-numbered year. A Regional Director, other than one who did not begin serving in that position until more than one year after the term which he or she is finishing began, shall not be eligible for election by the members as an At-Large or Regional Director until the Board of Directors election which occurs approximately two years after the expiration of the term for which he or she had been elected. However, a former Regional Director who is not eligible for election by the members may be elected by the Board of Directors at any time to fill a vacancy as an At-Large or Regional Director. A vacancy in a Regional Director position may only be filled by a person who is a resident of that region.
- (b) Twenty four (24) At-Large Directors shall be elected by the members of the Society for terms of four (4) years. These twenty four (24) directors shall be elected in such manner that the terms of office of twelve (12) such At-Large Directors shall expire every even-numbered year. Individuals are limited to two successive terms of office on the At-Large Board, after which they shall not be eligible for election to either an At-Large or Regional Board position until a two-year election cycle has passed. If a person is appointed to fill a vacancy for an At-Large Director more than two years after the

beginning of the term, for purposes of term limits this shall not count as a term.

- (c) Each director shall take office on the date of their election.
- (d) Transition, staggering and randomization of term limits. Irrespective of the above, the following persons serving on the Board of Directors on September 1, 2022, shall be eligible to serve for one more consecutive term: Ahearn, Amon, Anzaldua, Baier, Barnhard, Brandt-Erichsen, Globus, Hanlon, Hightower, Hopkins, Ikin, Jenet. Also, the following persons serving on the Board of Directors on September 1, 2022, shall be eligible to serve for two more consecutive terms: Dellutri, Gale, Lindberg, Liss, Pittman, Redfield, Mankins, Skran, Snyder, Strickland, Thangavelu, Zielinski. This Section 3(d) shall be automatically deleted from the Bylaws on February 4, 2034.
- Section 4. Quorum of the Board: At any meeting of the Board of Directors, one-half of the voting members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of the Society. The vote required for the Board of Directors to act is more than half of the voting members present at a meeting in which a quorum is present (provided, however, that wherever the Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws, or documents referenced by title therein, except Robert's Rules, require a majority or two-thirds vote, such requirement shall be deemed to mean a majority or two-thirds vote of the voting members).
- Section 5. Meetings of the Board: A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held in conjunction with the Annual Conference. Other meetings of the Board shall be special meetings. The exact time and place of all regular Board meetings, and other particulars concerning such meetings shall be determined by the Executive Committee, to the extent that these particulars are not determined by these Bylaws. Directors may participate in a meeting through the use of any means of communication by which all Directors participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. A Director participating in a meeting by this means shall be considered to be present at the meeting.
- Section 6. Call and Notice of Meetings: Special meetings of the Board may only be called by the Board, by one-third (33-1/3%) of the voting members of the Board then in office, or by a majority vote of the voting members of the Executive Committee. Notice of all meetings of the Board shall be issued by the Secretary and sent by e-mail to the last known e-mail address of each Director not less than forty (40) nor more than sixty (60) days before the meeting is to be held in the case of a regular meeting and not less than fourteen (14) nor more than sixty (60) days in the case of a special meeting. The notice shall specify the time and, if applicable, location of the meeting, and in the case of a special meeting, the purpose of the special meeting. An action at a special meeting that requires the approval of a majority or larger vote of the voting members of the Board shall not be valid unless the Directors (a) were given notice of the approved text, or the specific

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 4 of 12

decision to be made, at least fourteen (14) days in advance of the special meeting, or (b) the approval is ratified in an adjourned or additional meeting at least fourteen (14) days later. Any particulars concerning special meetings that are not specified in the motion used to call the meeting, or specified in these Bylaws, shall be determined by the Executive Committee. A Director may waive notice in accordance with the District of Columbia Official Code. A Director's attendance at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, unless the Director objects, in accordance with the DC Code, to holding or transacting at the meeting.

**Section 7. Voting:** A Director's vote and right to be counted as part of a quorum shall not be delegated to another nor exercised by proxy.

**Section 8. Approval of Minutes:** The minutes of any meeting of any board, committee, or council of the Society may be approved by an act of the board, committee, or council in question.

Section 9. Vacancies and Removal: If the office of any Director shall for any cause become vacant, the unexpired portion of the term may be filled by a qualified person receiving a majority vote of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may in its discretion, by affirmative vote of two-thirds of its voting members, remove any director for cause.

Section 10. Ex-Officio Members: Any member of the Executive Committee (including ex-officio members) who is not an elected member of the Board of Directors shall be an ex-officio member thereof, without voting powers and without the right to be counted as part of a quorum. Ex-officio members of the Board shall receive notice of and be permitted to attend meetings and join in discussions, and shall receive Board e-mail correspondence.

Section 11. Compensation: Directors shall not receive any compensation for their services, but the Board may, by resolution, authorize a policy that provides for fair and reasonable reimbursement of expenses incurred in the performance of their duties. Reimbursable expenses shall be budgeted and the budget approved by the Treasurer and the Chief Executive Officer, prior to being incurred. Nothing herein shall preclude a Director from serving the Society in any other capacity and receiving fair and reasonable compensation for such services.

Section 12. Conflict of Interest: A member of the Board of Directors may not authorize or vote in any Board, Committee or other body of the Society, in favor of a payment by the Society to him or herself, for any reason including wages and reimbursement of expenses.

#### ARTICLE VI — EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Section 1. Authority and Responsibility: The Executive Committee may act in place and stead of the Board of

Directors between Board meetings on all matters, except where, according to the Society's Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or documents (except Robert's Rules) referred to by title in these Bylaws, a majority or more of the Board is required for the Board to act. No acts of the Executive Committee shall contravene prior acts of the Board of Directors. All acts of the Executive Committee shall be promptly reported by the Secretary to the Board by e-mail. The Board of Directors shall retain final authority and responsibility for actions of the Executive Committee and shall be able to exercise this authority by an act of the Board.

Section 2. Composition: The Executive Committee shall consist of the elected officers, as set forth in Article VII, Section 1. However, the Assistant Secretary and the Assistant Treasurer shall not be entitled to be counted as part of a quorum or to vote except under the conditions specified in Section 3 of this Article. Ex-officio members of the Executive Committee shall not be entitled to be counted as part of a quorum or to vote. In addition, the President may at any time after election choose to be an ex-officio rather than a voting member of the Executive Committee by so notifying the Secretary, to be effective upon such notification. The President may choose to return to voting membership on the Executive Committee by so notifying the Secretary, to be effective fourteen (14) days later.

Section 3. Quorum: A quorum shall consist of a majority of the elected officers other than the Assistant Secretary and Assistant Treasurer, subject to the following three exceptions: (1) In the absence of the Secretary at any meeting at which the Secretary shall be entitled to vote, the Assistant Secretary, if present, shall be counted as part of a quorum and be entitled to vote in place and stead of the Secretary. (2) In the absence of the Treasurer at any meeting at which the Treasurer shall be entitled to vote, the Assistant Treasurer, if present, shall be counted as part of a quorum and be entitled to vote in place and stead of the Treasurer. (3) If the President has chosen to be an ex-officio member of the Executive Committee, the President shall not be counted in determining a quorum. The vote required for the Executive Committee to act shall be more than one-half of the members present and entitled to vote at a meeting at which a quorum is present, unless for the type of act in question, a majority or unanimous vote is required by these Bylaws or by documents (except Robert's Rules) referred to by name in these Bylaws. In the latter instance, such voting requirement will be deemed to mean a majority or unanimous vote of all members of the Executive Committee in office (other than the Assistant Secretary and Assistant Treasurer) and eligible to vote at the time the action is taken.

Section 4. Call of Meetings: The Executive Committee may hold face-to-face meetings or meetings by telephone or other type of electronic conference wherein all members participating can hear and speak with one another. A face-to-face meeting of the Executive Committee may be called only by a majority vote of the Executive Committee. The Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Senior Vice President, the

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 5 of 12

Executive Vice President, or any three members of the Executive Committee may call a telephone meeting or other type of electronic conference of the Executive Committee as the business of the Society may require. Such call shall be accompanied by notice to the Executive Committee as described in Section 5.

Section 5. Notice of Meetings: The notice for a meeting of the Executive Committee shall specify the time, type (face-toface or telephone or other type of electronic conference), the name(s) of the person(s) calling the meeting, and if relevant, the location of the meeting. Notice of face-to-face meetings shall be sent by e-mail by the Secretary to all members of the Executive Committee not less than forty (40) nor more than sixty (60) days before the meeting is to be held. Notice of telephone or other type of electronic conference meetings shall be sent by e-mail by the Secretary, by the officer calling the meeting, or by all three members of the Executive Committee calling the meeting. All notices of the call of the meeting must be sent to all members of the Executive Committee at least 36 hours before the meeting is to be held. An Executive Committee member's participation in any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, excepting such participation in a meeting by the Executive Committee member for the purpose of objecting to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

**Section 6. Vacancies:** Any vacancy occurring on the Executive Committee shall be filled in the manner as provided in Article VII, Section 6. Any committee member so elected to fill a vacancy shall serve the unexpired term of the predecessor.

Section 7. Authorized Signatures: The Executive Committee, by majority vote, shall designate those individuals who shall have full authority to sign checks or other monetary drafts of record on behalf of the Society. The Treasurer shall be one of such designated signatories. Any draft or check below the ceiling amount need have only one (1) such designated signatory. Any draft or check at or above the ceiling amount must have no fewer than two (2) of such designated signatories, one of whom must be an officer or a member of the Board of Directors of the Society. The ceiling amount shall be set from time to time by the Board of Directors. Such checks or drafts must be used for the disbursement of all Society funds and may only be written for purposes properly authorized and in accordance with these Bylaws.

## ARTICLE VII — OFFICERS

Section 1. Elected Officers: The elected officers of this Society shall be a Chair of the Board of Directors, Chair of the Board of Governors, President, Chief Executive Officer, Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President, four (4) Vice Presidents, Secretary, Assistant Secretary, Treasurer, and Assistant Treasurer.

**Section 2. Qualifications for Office:** Any member of the Society shall be eligible for nomination and election to any elective office of this Society.

**Section 3. Term of Office:** Each elected officer shall take office immediately upon election and shall serve for a term of approximately two years or until their successor is duly elected. Each elected officer may serve concurrently as a member of the Board of Directors.

Section 4. Term Limits: All elected officers may serve a maximum of three consecutive terms in the same office: After serving the maximum consecutive terms in a particular office, a person (1) may not serve again in that same office during the next term of approximately two years except that during that next term that person may be appointed to fill a vacancy in that same office by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors; (2) may serve again in that same office after a one-term hiatus; (3) may immediately serve in a different office; (4) if not in any office during that next term, may choose to be an ex-officio member of the Executive Committee during that next term. Such ex-officio status may be removed by a majority vote of the Executive Committee. For purposes of determining term limits, filling a vacancy within one year after the previous officer election counts as a full term consecutive with either a previous or subsequent term, and filling a vacancy beginning more than one year after the previous officer election does not count as a term.

Section 4.1: Staggered start: These term limits shall apply beginning with the 2021 election of officers without regard to any prior length of service for officers elected in 2021. After the 2027 Officers election, Section 4.1 shall be removed from the Bylaws. The following Officers elected in 2021 will for one time only be term limited to two consecutive terms rather than three: the four Vice Presidents, Chief Executive Officer, Chair of the Board of Directors, Secretary, and Assistant Treasurer. The following officers elected in 2021 will initially be term limited to three terms, Senior Vice President, Executive Vice President, President, Assistant Secretary, Treasurer, and Chair of the Board of Governors.

Section 5. Election: In January after a biannual Board of Directors election, the Executive Committee shall (i) nominate candidates for the elected Officer positions, and (ii) call a special meeting of the Board to elect Officers, which meeting shall take place between thirty-five (35) and forty-nine (49) days after such nomination and call. Any voting member of the Board of Directors may nominate additional candidates for the Officers election. A nomination must be made unambiguously for a given office; the four (4) offices of Vice President can be distinguished for this purpose by the name of their current occupants. The Officers election will be held in accordance with the "NSS Procedural Rules", which document shall be maintained by the Board of Directors and which may be amended only by majority vote of the Board of Directors. A majority vote of the Board of Directors in favor of a particular nominee is required to elect that nominee as an Officer. If no candidate for a given Officer position receives a majority vote NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 6 of 12

at the special meeting, then that position will be deemed vacant until filled in accordance with Article VII, Section 6 of these Bylaws.

Section 6. Vacancies and Removal: A vacancy in any elective office may be filled for the balance of the term thereof by a person selected by majority vote of the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee by majority vote may appoint an individual as an acting officer to carry out the duties of the vacant elective office until the Board of Directors fills the vacancy. If the person so appointed as an acting officer was not a member of the Executive Committee during the seven-day period prior to the day of the appointment, such person shall not have the right to vote or to be counted as part of a quorum. If the person so appointed was a member of the Executive Committee during the seven-day period prior to the day of appointment, such person shall have the same right to vote or to be counted as part of a quorum as prior to that appointment. The Board of Directors, in its discretion, by majority vote only, may remove any officer from office.

Section 7. Delegation of Authority: An Officer may delegate all or part of his or her authority, except (a) the right to vote, (b) the right to be counted as part of a quorum, and (c) the authority to sign checks or monetary drafts, to one or more individuals who may be member volunteers or employees of the Society.

Section 8. Compensation: Officers shall not receive compensation for their services, but the Board of Directors may, by resolution, authorize a policy of fair and reasonable reimbursement of expenses incurred in the performance of their duties. Reimbursable expenses shall be budgeted and the budget approved by the Treasurer and the Chief Executive Officer, prior to being incurred. Nothing herein shall preclude an officer from serving the Society in any other capacity and receiving fair and reasonable compensation for such services.

**Section 9. Conflict of Interest:** An Officer of the Society may not authorize or vote in any Board, Committee or other body of the Society, in favor of a payment by the Society to him or herself, for any reason including wages and reimbursement of expenses.

## ARTICLE VIII — DUTIES OF OFFICERS

Section 1. Chair of the Board of Directors: The Chair of the Board of Directors shall chair meetings of the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Chair of the Board of Governors: The Chair of the Board of Governors shall chair meetings, if any, of the Board of Governors; shall chair meetings of the Governors Council as defined in Article X Section 3; shall be the spokesperson for the Governors Council to the Board of Directors; shall instigate, organize, encourage, facilitate, and report on the advisory activities, fundraising, and other projects of the Governors Council and as appropriate the Board of Governors as a whole; and shall perform such other duties as may be

prescribed under these Bylaws or by the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee.

Section 3. President: The President shall be a spokesperson for the Society. The President shall serve as an ex-officio member of the Board of Governors (if not a member of the Board of Governors) and may choose to serve as an ex-officio member, without the right to vote or the right to be counted as part of a quorum, on any Committee of the Society except the Nominations Committee and the Elections Committee. The President is invited to communicate to the Board of Directors such matters and make such suggestions as may, in the President's opinion, tend to promote the welfare and further the goals and objectives of the Society. The President shall serve in other capacities as mutually agreed upon by the President and the Executive Committee or the Board of Directors.

Section 4. Chief Executive Officer: The Chief Executive Officer shall chair meetings of the Executive Committee. The Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for execution of the acts of the Executive Committee and shall exercise the authority of the Executive Committee between meetings and telephone conferences of the Committee, except in cases where, by the terms of these Bylaws or documents referenced by title therein (except Robert's Rules) a majority vote of the Executive Committee is required to act. Such exercise of authority shall be in accordance with prior acts of the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors.

Section 5. Executive Vice President: The Executive Vice President shall serve as the Chair of the Policy Committee described in Article IX of these Bylaws, or shall appoint, subject to approval of the Executive Committee, a Chair to serve in his place and stead, for a term of office which shall end at the completion of the next officers election.

**Section 6. Senior Vice President:** The duties of the Senior Vice President shall be as delegated to him or her by the Board of Directors. The Senior Vice President shall perform the duties of the President in the event of the President's inability to serve.

**Section 7.** Vice Presidents: There shall be four (4) Vice Presidents who shall:

- (a) Be designated at the discretion of the Board of Directors or Executive Committee to serve as official representatives of the Society at conferences, meetings of the chapters, regional meetings, meetings of other groups, and other such occasions as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee; and
- (b) Be responsible for such duties as are individually assigned to them by the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee.

**Section 8. Secretary:** The Secretary shall be in charge of maintaining originals and copies of the Society's records and shall:

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 7 of 12

(a) See to the proper recording of proceedings of meetings of the Board of Directors and of the Executive Committee;

- (b) Upon election of a Director, distribute to that Director a current, conformed set of these Bylaws and the following four documents referred to in these Bylaws: "The National Space Society Chapter Rules," "NSS Procedural Rules," "Nominations and Elections Committees," and "Campaign Rules";
- (c) Be responsible for the proper and legal mailing and emailing of notices to the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee;
- (d) Maintain records of all votes of the Board of Directors;
- (e) Keep the seal of the Society;
- (f) Maintain duplicate copies of all financial records of the Society, and of the records of the Policy Committee; and
- (g) Perform such duties as may be specified by the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee.
- **Section 9. Assistant Secretary:** The Assistant Secretary shall perform the duties of the Secretary in the absence of or the inability to act of the Secretary, unless specifically delegated by the Secretary to another person, and shall perform those secretarial duties delegated by the Secretary.

#### Section 10. Treasurer: The Treasurer shall:

- (a) Collect all member dues and/or assessments:
- (b) Establish and maintain proper accounting procedures and records for the handling of the Society's funds. The records of the Treasurer shall at all times be subject to inspection and verification by any Officer or other individual duly appointed by the Executive Committee for this purpose;
- (c) Be responsible for keeping the funds in such banks, trust companies and/or investments as are approved by the Executive Committee;
- (d) Report on the financial condition of the Society at all meetings of the Board of Directors and at other times when called upon by the Executive Committee;
- (e) At the end of each fiscal year prepare an annual report which shall reflect an audit of the Society's books and records conducted by a certified public accountant;
- (f) At the expiration of the term of office, deliver over to the successor all books, money, and other property in the Treasurer's charge, or, in the absence of a successor, deliver such properties to the Chief Executive Officer;
- (g) The Treasurer shall budget for and establish a petty cash fund for use in day-to-day operation of the office of the Society. Disbursements from the petty cash fund shall be by check where practical. No disbursement from this fund shall exceed \$500.

(h) Perform such duties as may be specified by the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee.

Section 11. Assistant Treasurer: The Assistant Treasurer shall perform the duties of the Treasurer in the absence of or the inability to act of the Treasurer, unless specifically delegated by the Treasurer to another person, and shall perform those duties delegated by the Treasurer.

#### ARTICLE IX — POLICY COMMITTEE

Section 1. Authority and Responsibility: Subject to the authority of the Board of Directors pursuant to Article V, Section 1, the Policy Committee shall be responsible for determining the positions of the Society on legislative items and the strategy and program through which the Society shall promote these positions. "Legislative items" include any bill under consideration by Congress, any international treaty on which the Congress is to vote, any Federal regulation or U.S. Presidential Executive Order, and any State legislation. The Policy Committee shall have authority for expenditures for the Society's legislative program, including contracting for lobbying services, from funds set aside by the Executive Committee for such purposes in a duly approved budget. Such funds may also be raised in a fund-raiser or otherwise obtained specifically for legislative purposes. Legislative program funds shall be budgeted for staff salaries as appropriate where staff personnel are assigned to legislative program tasks. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY PROVISION CONTAINED IN THESE BYLAWS TO THE CONTRARY, the Society, whether through the Policy Committee or otherwise, shall not engage in any activities which are prohibited to nonprofit corporations pursuant to either the Laws of the District of Columbia or the applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

Section 2. Legislative Action: The Policy Committee shall be responsible for legislative action on behalf of the Society including a phone tree, letter writing, email alerts, and other types of legislative campaigns. The Policy Committee shall be responsible for developing and maintaining a phone tree, email lists and other procedures, including appointment and removal of volunteer legislative action coordinators, and shall have access to the Society's membership lists for these purposes. Costs of accessing and using membership lists shall be paid from the legislative budget.

Section 3. Chair of the Policy Committee: The Chair of the Policy Committee shall exercise the authority of the Policy Committee between meetings and telephone conferences of the Committee. Such exercise of authority shall be in accordance with prior acts of the Policy Committee. The Chair of the Policy Committee may choose to serve as an ex-officio member, without the right to vote or the right to be counted as part of a quorum, of the Executive Committee. The Chair of the Policy Committee shall, in carrying out the policies of the Policy Committee, determine the legislative action content of the Society's publications and other official communications

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 8 of 12

(such as legislative alerts by letter, phone tree or other means), and control the sale or distribution of lists of all or part of the Society's membership, and of advertising space in the Society's publications, where it can be reasonably expected that such lists or advertising space may be used by a political organization, or for legislative action purposes. Duties of the Chair of the Policy Committee may be delegated to others. The Policy Committee as a whole may exercise all of the authority of the Chair of the Policy Committee except for the authority to chair and call meetings and to select the slate(s) of members for the Policy Committee, as described below in Article IX Sections 4 and 7 of these Bylaws.

Section 4. Committee Members: Number, Appointment, and Term: As soon as reasonable following the Officers election, the Chair of the Policy Committee shall select, with the approval of the Executive Committee, a slate of eight (8) or more members of the Policy Committee. To the extent reasonable, this slate shall be composed of persons with experience in legislative bodies or in organizations dealing directly with legislative bodies. This slate, when approved, plus the Chair of the Policy Committee, shall constitute the voting members of the Policy Committee. The term of service for the members shall be approximately two years. Members may be added to the Committee at any time as recommended by the Chair of the Policy Committee and approved by the Executive Committee. The term of service for such appointees as well as for the regular members of the Committee shall be until the next Policy Committee slate is selected and approved.

Section 5. Quorum, Meetings, Call, Type, and Notice: The requirements for a quorum, type, call, and notice for meetings of the Policy Committee shall be the same as for the Executive Committee.

**Section 6. Secretary:** The Secretary of the Policy Committee shall be a member of the Committee and shall be appointed and may be removed by the Chair of the Committee. The Secretary shall give notice of meetings of the Committee and record and maintain the minutes of such meetings.

Section 7. Vacancies and Removal: If the position of any member of the Policy Committee shall become vacant, the unexpired portion of the term may be filled by the Chair of the Committee with the approval of the Executive Committee. The Chair of the Policy Committee, with the approval of the Executive Committee or the Board of Directors, may remove a member of the Policy Committee without cause.

# ARTICLE X — BOARD OF GOVERNORS AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1. Board of Governors Composition and Authority: The Society shall have a Board of Governors which shall serve in an advisory capacity and shall not exercise, in whole or in part, the authority of the Board of Directors in the governance of the Society. The Board of Governors shall be composed of outstanding individuals who represent what is best in their

fields of leadership and expertise. They have the stature to advance the Society's goals via the respect they have in those fields. Through their actions and contributions, they inspire the Society's members and the public in the many ways they serve the organization. Through their collective experience and wisdom, the Board of Governors provides sage advice and insights to aid the Board of Directors towards fulfilling the strategic objectives of the organization, especially in the areas of fundraising and public relations.

Section 1A. Temporary Section on Transition: As of November 12, 2022, the Board of Governors shall consist of two categories. Those Governors who were members of the Governors Council on October 1, 2022 shall be "voting" members of the Board of Governors. Those Governors who were not members of the Governors Council on October 1. 2022 shall be "non-voting" members of the Board of Governors. The terms "voting" and "non-voting" shall not be part of the title as a Governor but are only used as a descriptor in these Bylaws to distinguish the two categories. Non-voting Governor is a temporary category and no additional person may become a non-voting Governor. All existing members in the category of non-voting Governors shall be eventually elected as a voting Governor, Emeritus Governor, or Trustee, or just be removed from the Board of Governors. There is no established time limit for this process. Once this process is completed and there are no longer any members in the category of non-voting Governors, so that all Governors are voting Governors, this Section 1A shall be automatically deleted from the Bylaws. Meanwhile, with one exception, all references to Governors or Board of Governors in the remaining Sections of Article X below refer only to voting Governors. Hence, as two examples: (1) any requirement for majority vote of the entire Board of Governors refers to a majority of all voting Governors only; (2) when a non-voting Governor is elected to be a voting Governor, all requirements to be newly elected to the Board of Governors shall apply. The one exception referred to is that any person who has served as a Governor in any capacity in the past is eligible to be elected as an Emeritus Governor.

Section 2. Emeritus Governors. Emeritus Governors are those who have prior service on the Board of Governors and are recognized with this title for the quality of their contribution to the Society. They may or may not be active in contributing to the Society in other ways. Emeritus Governors do not have a vote.

Section 3. Ex-Officio Members of the Board of Governors: The Chief Executive Officer, the Senior Vice President, the Chair of the Board of Directors, the President, and the Executive Vice President shall be ex-officio members of the Board of Governors.

Section 4. Election and Removal of Governors.

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 9 of 12

(a) Subject to any restrictions included in these Bylaws, the Board of Governors may elect or remove a person as a member of the Board of Governors or as an Emeritus Governor, as well as determine the term of office, using processes and requirements chosen by majority vote of the entire Board of Governors, provided that the final vote to elect and remove a Governor or Emeritus Governor must be by no less than a majority vote of the entire Board of Governors. Votes may be taken at a meeting or by email. In addition, for the election of a particular person either as a member of the Board of Governors or as an Emeritus Governor for the first time, or for the removal of a person from either of these positions, concurrence must be obtained from four of the five officers who are ex-officio members of the Board of Governors. The Chair of the Board of Governors may request such concurrence at any time during the election or removal process. Such concurrence, or lack thereof, (1) must be immediately reported to the Executive Committee, (2) must be recorded in the minutes of the next meeting of the Executive Committee, and (3) may be appealed to the Executive Committee by the Chair of the Board of Governors or any of the five officers who are ex-officio. Once an election to or removal from the Board of Governors has been completed, the Chair of the Board of Governors shall (1) inform a person who has been seated on the Board of Governors, or, if possible, inform a person who has been removed from the Board of Governors, and shall (2) provide to the Secretary the names of the Governors who voted yes, no, or abstained in a vote to elect or remove a Governor.

- (b) Although the Board of Directors retains its legal authority to elect or remove a member of the Board of Governors, which if it were exercised can only be by majority vote and cannot be overturned by the Board of Governors, it is the intent of the Board of Directors not to use that authority and to have the process of election and removal of Governors conducted by the Board of Governors as specified in Section 4(a) above.
- (c) Election to the Board of Governors is also subject to the requirements in Section 6 below.

Section 5. Board of Trustees. Members of the Board of Trustees have sufficient stature in their fields that lending their name in support of the Society is sufficient to warrant recognizing them with this title even if they do not offer additional support in other ways, although they are always welcome to do so. The Board of Trustees shall not exercise, in whole or in part, the authority of the Board of Directors in the governance of the Society. This title is purely honorary and is not associated with any fiduciary responsibility or authority. Members of the Board of Trustees are elected or removed by majority vote of the Board of Directors. The term of office for a member of the Board of Trustees expires only upon resignation or removal.

Section 6. Additional Requirements for Election to the Board of Governors and Board of Trustees. For the election of a

particular person for the first time as a member of the Board of Governors or Board of Trustees to be completed, the following must be obtained and delivered to the Secretary: (1) contact information, which may be via an agent, for the person being elected, (2) written agreement to serve on the respective Board, and (3) written permission for the Society to publicize in any manner the person's name as being on the respective Board of the National Space Society. This may occur before or after the election vote: if before, the person is seated on the respective Board immediately upon election; if after, the person is seated on the respective Board upon receipt of the required material by the Secretary.

Section 7. Exclusivity: A person may hold only one of these three positions at the same time: (1) member of the Board of Governors, (2) Emeritus Governor, or (3) member of the Board of Trustees. A person in one of these positions elected to a different one of these positions is automatically removed from the old position.

Section 8. Resignation: Any Governor (including an Emeritus Governor) may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair of the Board of Governors or the Secretary. Any Trustee may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no time is specified, at the time it is delivered.

#### ARTICLE XI — BOARD OF DIRECTORS ELECTION

Section 1. At-Large Board Nominations: Every two years, a Nominations Committee and an Elections Committee shall be selected for the next Board of Directors Election, by a procedure determined in the document "Nominations and Elections Committees" as established by the Board of The Nominations Committee may nominate Directors. candidates for At-Large Board positions for the subject election. The Elections Committee shall be responsible for all statements concerning the election which are on or which accompany the election ballot. The Board of Directors shall determine further details of Nominations Committee and Elections Committee procedures by maintaining the document "Nominations and Elections Committees," which document may be amended only by a majority vote of the Board. In addition, any individual who is eligible for election to the Board of Directors shall become a nominee for an At-Large Board position upon delivery to the Secretary of the Society a nominating petition by January 15 of the year of the election, such petition to have signatures of at least forty (40) members of the Society with at least five (5) signatories from each of any three Regions of the Society.

Section 2. Regional Board Nominations: The Society shall have eight (8) geographic regions for purposes of regional representation of the membership on the Board of Directors. The geographic areas covered by these regions shall be determined by the Board of Directors and described in a

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 10 of 12

document "Campaign Rules", which shall be maintained by the Board of Directors and may be amended only by majority vote of the Board of Directors. Each region shall be represented by one Regional member of the Board of Directors. Any individual who resides in a given region and who is eligible to serve on the Board of Directors shall be nominated for that region's Board position upon delivery to the Secretary of the Society by January 15 of the year of the election a nominating petition with signatures of at least five (5) Society members who reside in that region. The Nominations Committee may nominate candidates for Regional Director if and only if there are no petition candidates for that region.

Section 3. Balloting: The ballot for the Board of Directors election shall be sent or otherwise made available to eligible members in accordance with the document "Nominations and Elections Committees" following the record date. The record date is the date that the identity of members and the membership interests they hold for purposes of voting is determined. The record date shall not be more than 70 days before the final day that votes must be received by the Secretary of the Society. The record date shall be in either April or May of an election year. The specific date within those two months shall be chosen by the Elections Committee. A member entitled to vote is one who was a member during the entire 30 days ending on the record date. A member may vote for as many as twelve (12) of the nominees for At-Large Board positions and for one (1) nominee for the Regional Board position representing the region in which the member resides. If there are more eligible nominees for Board positions than there are open positions, those eligible nominees receiving the most votes, up to the number of nominees required to fill the available positions, shall be elected. If the number of eligible nominees is equal to or fewer than the number of open positions, then those eligible nominees shall be elected. In the event of a tie vote for a position on the Board of Directors in the Board of Directors election, the Executive Committee shall break the tie by majority vote.

**Section 4. Campaign Rules:** Rules concerning campaigning for the annual Board of Directors election, in addition to those given in these Bylaws, shall be maintained by the Board of Directors in the "Campaign Rules" referred to in Article XI, Section 2, above.

Section 5. Penalties: Violations of the rules set forth in "Campaign Rules," the Society's Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, or the Washington, D.C. laws for non-profit corporations, by or on behalf of nominees for the Board of Directors, may be considered by the Elections Committee and the Board of Directors as cause for disqualification of any nominee from being elected to office in such election. The Elections Committee may, but only by majority vote, recommend such disqualification to the Board of Directors. After receiving such a recommendation the Board of Directors, but only by majority vote of those members not recommended for disqualification nor currently running in the relevant

election, may disqualify such nominees. Disqualification proceedings must be completed within six months after the votes are counted. In the event of disqualification of a nominee, then that nominee shall be declared ineligible for election. If the disqualification occurs after the relevant election then the member of the Board of Directors who has been disqualified shall be removed from the Board and that eligible nominee (if any) who has a sufficient number of votes to have been elected given one additional Board position shall fill the position on the Board thus vacated.

# ARTICLE XII — SPECIAL BOARDS, COMMITTEES, COUNCILS AND OTHER BODIES

Section 1. Special Boards, Committees, and Councils: The following are the regular Boards and Committees of the Society: (a) the Board of Directors, (b) the Board of Governors, (c) the Board of Trustees, (d) the Executive Committee, (e) the Nominations Committee, (f) the Elections Committee, and (g) the Policy Committee. All other Boards, Committees, Councils and other subsidiary bodies of the Society, if any, are defined to be special Boards, Committees, Councils and other subsidiary bodies (provided, however, that chapters and organizational components thereof are not covered by this Article). The Executive Committee shall appoint such special Boards, Committees, Councils and other subsidiary bodies as are desired and which are not mentioned in nor in conflict with other provisions of the Articles of Incorporation of the Society, these Bylaws, or documents referred to by title in these Bylaws (except Robert's Rules). The duties of special Boards, Committees, Councils and other subsidiary bodies shall be as prescribed by the Executive Committee upon their appointment, and shall be advisory only unless specified otherwise by the Executive Committee. The membership, officers, and other organizational characteristics of special Boards, Committees, Councils and other subsidiary bodies may be established and altered at any time by the Executive Committee. However, in accordance with Article V Section 1 of these bylaws, the Board of Directors has "the authority to supersede and to exercise the powers of the Executive Committee" so would retain ultimate control over any such special Boards, Committees, Councils, or other subsidiary bodies, as well as the authority to create any such special Boards, Committees, Councils, or other subsidiary bodies.

## ARTICLE XIII — GENERAL COUNSEL

The General Counsel shall be the principal legal advisor for the Society and shall provide such advice and perform such other duties, all under such terms and conditions as may be determined by the Board of Directors or the Executive Committee. The General Counsel shall be appointed from time to time by a majority vote of the Board of Directors and shall serve until the Board of Directors shall by majority vote determine otherwise.

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 11 of 12

#### ARTICLE XIV — GENERAL

**Section 1. Audit:** The accounts of the Society shall be audited not less than annually by a Certified Public Accountant who shall be appointed by the Executive Committee with the approval of the Board of Directors and who shall provide a report to the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Fidelity Bond: All officers, employees, and agents handling funds or property of the Society shall be covered by fidelity bond in such amount and on such terms as the Executive Committee, with the approval of the Board of Directors, may determine; such bond to be purchased at the Society's expense.

Section 3. Fiscal Year: The fiscal period of the Society shall be prescribed by the Executive Committee subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, provided, however, that the designation of the fiscal period shall at all times be in compliance with the laws of the District of Columbia and the Internal Revenue Code.

**Section 4. Budget:** With recommendations of the Executive Committee, the Board of Directors shall adopt in advance of the next fiscal period an annual operating budget covering all activities of the Society.

**Section 5. Seal:** The Board of Directors may adopt a common seal for the Society, to be in such form and to be used in such manner as the Board shall direct. No deed or other instrument of the Society otherwise duly authorized and executed shall be held or deemed invalid for want of a seal.

Section 6. Order of Business at Meetings: The latest edition of ROBERT'S RULES OF ORDER, NEWLY REVISED shall govern all procedures during a meeting of the Society, Board of Directors, the Executive Committee and all other boards, committees, and councils on any point not covered by these Bylaws, documents (except Robert's Rules) referred to by title in these Bylaws, or rules of order passed in accordance with these Bylaws.

Section 7. Ex-Officio Membership: An ex-officio member of any subsidiary body of the Society (subsidiary bodies being defined to include boards, committees, and councils, but not Chapters) shall have no voting powers within that subsidiary body and shall not have the right to make motions or be counted as part of a quorum at meetings of that subsidiary body. An ex-officio member of any subsidiary body of the Society shall for that subsidiary body have all other privileges and powers of a voting member, including but not limited to the right to receive notice of all meetings, the right to attend all meetings and join in discussions, and the right to receive all mail or e-mail correspondence of the subsidiary body including copies of motions to be voted on. Individuals may be made ex-officio members of any subsidiary body of the Society, except for the Board of Directors, the Nominations Committee, and the Elections Committee, by the same procedures as would be used for voting members and may be removed from any subsidiary body by the same procedures as would be used for voting members of the subsidiary body in question. In addition, ex-officio members may be added to any subsidiary body by majority vote of those in the subsidiary body in question who have the right to vote.

Section 8. Delegation of Authority: Any board, committee, or council of the Society established by these Bylaws may delegate authority to one or more individuals, except that under no circumstances may authority be delegated for any matter which requires, by the terms of the Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws, or any document referred to by name therein (except Robert's Rules) a majority or greater vote for the Board, Committee, or Council in question to act.

Section 9. Amendment of Decisions: The decision of any individual or subsidiary body of the Society authorized by these Bylaws to render such a decision shall be deemed to be valid and binding, unless and until such decision is amended by either the individual or subsidiary body that rendered the decision, or by another individual or subsidiary body that has the requisite authority, pursuant to these Bylaws, to amend the decision, such as, in the case of a decision by the Executive Committee, the Board of Directors.

Section 10. Indemnification of Officers, Directors, and Staff: Every Director, Officer, or employee of the Society shall be indemnified by the Society against all expenses and liabilities, including counsel fees, reasonably incurred or imposed on such Director, Officer, or employee in connection with any proceeding to which such Director, Officer, or employee may be made a party, or in which such Director, Officer, or employee may become involved, by reason of such Director, Officer, or employee being or having been a Director, Officer, or employee at the time of the acts or omissions which formed the basis of the proceeding, except in such cases wherein the Director, Officer, or employee is adjudged guilty of willful misfeasance or malfeasance in the performance of the duties of the office in relation to the subject matter of the proceeding (provided, however, that in the event of settlement the indemnification herein shall apply only when the Executive Committee approves, by majority vote, such settlement and reimbursement as being in the best interest of the Society). The foregoing right of indemnification shall be in addition to and not exclusive of all other rights to which such Director, Officer, or employee may be entitled.

Section 11. Slander and Libel: If any current or former Officer, employee, or member of the Board of Directors is a victim of libel and/or slander which is related to the individual's association with the Society, then expenses associated with legal action against those guilty of libel or slander, over and above compensation obtained through legal action, shall be payable by the Society to the extent approved as being in the best interests of the Society by majority vote of the Executive Committee.

**Section 12. Construction:** Wherever the context of these Bylaws requires, the masculine shall be read in the feminine, and the singular shall be read in the plural, and vice versa.

NSS Bylaws, May, 2024 Page 12 of 12

The side headings in these Bylaws are utilized for convenience only, and should not be read or interpreted as limiting or modifying the express provisions of these Bylaws.

Section 13. E-Mail: Wherever these Bylaws state that any notification, vote, report, or other communication to a Director or officer be in writing or by mail, such communication shall be sent by e-mail to that person's last known e-mail address in the Society's records, and this e-mail shall be the only required form of such communication. Notifications, including ballots, may be sent to members via email to the members' most recent e-mail address in the Society's records, and e-mails sent to such designated e-mail address shall be deemed received.

Section 14. Annual Conference: The Society shall hold an annual Conference. The time, place, and other particulars of this event shall be determined by the Executive Committee to the extent not determined by these Bylaws. The Executive Committee may delegate all or part of its authority concerning the annual conference to others, such as to a conference committee.

#### ARTICLE XV — AMENDMENTS

Section 1. Amendment Procedure: The Bylaws may be amended or repealed by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors. If the amendment or repeal receives a majority vote of the Board of Directors but less than a two-thirds vote, then the Board of Directors may at its discretion, but only by a separate majority vote, authorize submitting the amendment or repeal to the Society members for vote. Such amendment or repeal shall be adopted if approved by more than half of the eligible members of the Society who vote. Notice, including the exact wording of any Bylaws amendment to be considered, shall be sent in writing to the members of the Board of Directors not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to any meeting at which such a Bylaws amendment is to be considered and voted on by the Board of Directors. Membership votes on amendments shall be conducted in accordance with the "NSS Procedural Rules" described in Article VII, Section 5 of these Bylaws. A Society member shall be eligible to vote on the proposed amendment only if continuously a member during the entire 30 days ending on the record date as defined in Article XI Section 3.

Section 2. Amendment Proposals: Amendments may be proposed by the Board of Directors on its own initiative, or upon petition of fifty (50) members addressed to the Secretary. In the case of an amendment proposed by petition, the Executive Committee shall vote to advise the Board of Directors whether to adopt the amendment before it is voted on by the Board. Such advice shall not be binding on the Board of Directors.

#### ARTICLE XVI — DISSOLUTION AND USE OF FUNDS

**Section 1.** Use of Funds: The Society shall use its funds only to accomplish the objectives and purposes specified in these Bylaws.

**Section 2. Distribution of Funds:** On dissolution of the Society any funds remaining shall be distributed to one or more regularly organized and qualified charitable, educational, scientific, or philanthropic organizations, which is recognized as a tax exempt corporation pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code, to be selected by the Board of Directors.